FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/14/2021 2:18 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/15/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

#### 99979-1

Supreme Court No. (to be set) Court of Appeals No. 54288-9-II

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_\_

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

# Michael Miller,

Petitioner.

\_\_\_\_\_

Pierce County Superior Court

Cause No. 18-1-03704-4

The Honorable Judge Jerry T. Costello

# **Petition for Review**

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

#### **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

#

#### **INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court found that Michael Miller was entitled to instructions on self-defense in his trial on assault charges. Instead of telling jurors that Mr. Miller could defend himself if he reasonably believed he was "about to be injured," the court used the homicide standard, requiring a fear of "great personal injury." The instructions relieved the State of its burden to prove the absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.

Mr. Miller asked the court to instruct on the lesser-included offense of unlawfully displaying a weapon under RCW 9.41.270. The court agreed that Mr. Miller had met the legal and factual prongs of the test for giving such an instruction. However, the court declined to give the proposed instructions, relying on a misinterpretation of the statute. This infringed Mr. Miller's unqualified statutory right to instruction on a lesser included offense. It also violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.

#### **DECISION BELOW AND ISSUES PRESENTED**

Petitioner Michael Miller, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion entered on June 15, 2021. This case presents two issues: (1) In this assault case, did the court erroneously instruct jurors that Mr. Miller could not claim self-defense unless he feared great personal injury? (2) Did the trial judge err by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A copy of the opinion is attached.

refusing to instruct jurors on the lesser included offense of unlawful display of a weapon?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael Miller has lived in the Wagon Wheel mobile home park many years, his trailer was in space 18. RP (10/10/19) 102. Mr. Miller was 64 in the fall of 2018. RP (10/17/19) 676-677. His back was broken in 1993, his mobility remains limited, and his right hand is numb. RP (10/17/19) 677-680. Others described Mr. Miller as frail, and he often drank beer to help with his ongoing pain. RP (10/15/19) 226; RP (10/17/19) 709.

At the front door of Mr. Miller's trailer was a wooden porch with steps. RP (10/15/19) 108, 128, 296. It was open and visible from the street and further. RP (10/15/19) 199.

In September of 2018, Mr. Miller saw Jessica Aitchison go into the trailer next to Mr. Miller's. RP (10/15/19) 321. Her father, Steven Aitchison, is the president of the homeowner's association of the mobile home park. RP (10/15/19) 191; RP (10/16/19) 379-382.

The occupant of that trailer had died, and the trailer was empty while waiting for a family member or representative to claim the former occupant's property. RP (10/15/19) 321; RP (10/16/19) 385-386; RP (10/17/19) 707-708. Jessica Aitchison wanted to live in the trailer, and she had obtained permission from her father to clean it out and get it ready for her to move in. RP (10/15/19) 319-321; RP (10/16/19) 384-385.

But Mr. Miller didn't know that. When he saw Jessica Aitchison go into the trailer, he was concerned she was trespassing. RP (10/16/19) 363. He and another occupant of the park went over to find out what was going on, and Jessica Aitchison poked her head out a window to talk to them. RP (10/15/19) 322-324. She told them her father had given her permission to be there, but that failed to allay Mr. Miller's concerns. RP (10/17/19) 708.

Mr. Miller commented that he didn't think the requisite time had passed for the trailer to be considered abandoned. RP (10/15/19) 324, 327. Jessica Aitchison found Mr. Miller abrasive.<sup>2</sup> RP (10/15/19) 324. Jessica Aitchison and the other park occupant spoke a bit more, more cleaning was done, and then Jessica Aitchison left the trailer. RP (10/15/19) 324-328.

Jessica Aitchison went to her father's trailer, where she found him with friend Vernon Frye, who was also a member of the homeowner association board. RP (10/15/19) 266, 286; RP (10/16/19) 383. She told her father that Mr. Miller had spoken to her about her ability to do things inside the trailer. RP (10/15/19) 287; RP (10/16/19) 386.

Steven Aitchison drove his truck with Vernon Frye and parked in front of Mr. Miller's trailer. RP (10/15/19) 199; RP (10/16/19) 354, 388. Both men got out of the truck, and Frye stood at the truck while Aitchison went up to the door, standing on the porch. RP (10/15/19) 205, 288.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Mr. Miller was in pain that day and had been drinking beer throughout the day. RP (10/17/19) 709.

Nextdoor neighbor Jourdan Brown was outside and saw Aitchison and Frye pull up and get out of the truck. RP (10/15/19) 199. Aitchison went up onto the porch and knocked loudly. RP (10/17/19) 71.3 Mr. Miller opened the door and immediately told Aitchison to get off the porch. RP (10/15/19) 292, 295; RP (10/16/19) 390-391; RP (10/17/19) 747. Mr. Miller was concerned and felt surrounded given where each man stood, and he tried to escort Aitchison off the porch. RP (10/17/19) 716-719.

Aitchison did not get off the porch. RP (10/15/19) 295. Aitchison said that Mr. Miller reached for his neck but did not make contact. RP (10/16/19) 391; RP (10/17/19) 561. Aitchison was quickly on top of Mr. Miller who'd fallen through the porch. RP (10/15/19) 293-294, 338; RP (10/16/19) 391; RP (10/17/19) 720, 747.

Brown heard the porch break and looked over and saw Aitchison on top of Mr. Miller. RP (10/15/19) 203. Brown heard the two exchange words, and heard Aitchison tell Mr. Miller to "knock it off" or he would not let him up. RP (10/15/19) 204. Brown was concerned for Mr. Miller's safety and yelled to Aitchison to let Mr. Miller up, to not hurt Mr. Miller, and to just call police. RP (10/15/19) 204, 229, 259, 338. It looked to Brown like Aitchison was choking Mr. Miller.<sup>3</sup> RP (10/15/19) 218, 228.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Brown testified at trial that Mr. Miller would be no match for Aitchison in a fight. RP (10/15/19) 260.

Aitchison was over six feet tall and weighed 360 pounds at the time.<sup>4</sup> RP (10/15/19) 293; RP (10/16/19) 391, 413. Frye said it looked like after Mr. Miller opened the door, Aitchison "hip checked" him and took Mr. Miller to the ground.<sup>5</sup> RP (10/15/19) 293-294. He saw Aitchison's hands at Mr. Miller's upper chest. RP (10/15/19) 294.

After threatening to have Mr. Miller evicted, Aitchison did let Mr. Miller up, and Mr. Miller went inside. RP (10/16/19) 390-392, 439; RP (10/17/19) 721. Mr. Miller had been hurt: his shoulder was injured, he was in pain, and his movement was limited. RP (10/17/19) 557, 562, 720-725, 748. Neither Aitchison nor Frye had left. RP (10/15/19) 231; RP (10/17/19) 721-725. Mr. Miller found his gun and went back out. RP (10/17/19) 722, 755.

Aitchison had a concealed firearm carry permit, and it was common knowledge in the park that he was usually armed. RP (10/16/19) 416-417. Mr. Miller knew that Aitchison was usually armed. RP (10/17/19) 701.

Mr. Miller went out with his gun and fired 4 shots.<sup>6</sup> He said that he wanted to run Aitchison and Frye off because he was afraid. RP (10/16/19) 536; RP (10/17/19) 726, 751. He said he was not trying to hurt anyone, but that he was afraid. RP (10/17/19) 726-27. But Brown, Frye

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Aitchison was 55 years old. RP (10/16/19) 377.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Aitchison claimed that upon opening the door, Mr. Miller immediately tried to grab him. RP (10/16/19) 423.

 $<sup>^6</sup>$  Police only located one strike, on Aitchison's truck. RP (10/15/19); RP (10/17/19) 575-579. One of these four shots was a misfire. RP (10/17/19) 597-598.

and Aitchison all claimed Mr. Miller shot at them. RP (10/15/19) 210-212, 253, 297; RP (10/16/19) 397, 435. Jessica Aitchison would later testify that it didn't look to her like Mr. Miller was aiming the gun. RP (10/16/19) 355; RP (10/16/19) 373.

Police arrived and surrounded the trailer. RP (10/10/19) 102-109. The Lakewood Police Chief called inside, and Mr. Miller said he'd shot four times into the air. RP (10/10/19) 107. Eventually Mr. Miller came out and was arrested. RP (10/10/19) 102-111; RP (10/16/19) 485.

The state charged Mr. Miller with three counts of Assault in the First Degree, all with firearm enhancements. CP 1-2. At trial, Brown, Frye and Aitchison all claimed that Mr. Miller shot at them. RP (10/15/19) 206, 275; Mr. Miller testified and claimed self-defense. RP (10/17/19) 676-731.

The trial judge found that Mr. Miller was entitled to have the jury instructed on self-defense. CP 52-58. In the general self-defense instruction, the court told the jury that

The use of force upon or toward the person of another is lawful when used by a person who reasonably believes that he is about to suffer great personal injury in preventing or attempting to prevent an offense against the person, and when the force is not more than necessary.

CP 52.

The court's "act on appearances" instruction similarly required a good faith and reasonable ground to believe the person is in "actual danger of great personal injury". CP 55. The court went on to define great personal injury as "an injury that the person reasonably believed... would

produce severe pain and suffering if it were inflicted upon the person." CP 56. The defense objected to the use of "great personal injury." RP (10/21/19) 774-777.

The defense also offered an instruction allowing the jury to find Mr. Miller guilty of the lesser charge of unlawful display of a weapon. CP 23-26. The court found that both the legal and factual prongs of the *Workman* test were met.<sup>7</sup> RP (10/21/19) 775. But the court declined to instruct the jury on the lesser, because the deck was attached to the front door of Mr. Miller's home. RP (10/21/19) 775.

The jury acquitted Mr. Miller on all three of the assault 1charges. RP (10/23/19) 836-840. They also acquitted on one of the assault in the second degree charges, finding Mr. Miller guilty of only two counts of assault two, with two firearm enhancements. CP 65-73.

Mr. Miller had no prior criminal history, and the court sentenced him within his standard range to 84 months. CP 77-89. Mr. Miller timely appealed. CP 90. The Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions.

#### **ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED**

I. THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW AND REVERSE BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT'S SELF-DEFENSE INSTRUCTIONS RELIEVED THE STATE OF ITS BURDEN.

By statute, Mr. Miller was entitled to use force to defend himself if he reasonably believed he was about to be injured. The trial judge instructed jurors that he was not entitled to use force unless he reasonably

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 584 P.2d 382 (1978).

believed he was about to suffer great personal injury. This violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.

A. Mr. Miller was entitled to use force to defend himself if he reasonably believed he was "about to be injured."

Due process requires the State to prove the elements of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *State v. Woods*, 138 Wn.App. 191, 198, 156 P.3d 309 (2007); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). In self-defense cases, "the absence of self-defense becomes another element of the offense, which the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt." *Woods*, 138 Wn.App. at 198.

By statute, "[t]he use, attempt, or offer to use force upon or toward the person of another is not unlawful...[w]henever used by a party about to be injured." RCW 9A.16.020(3). This standard is reflected in the pattern instruction: "The use of force upon or toward the person of another is lawful when used by a person who reasonably believes that he is about to be injured." 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 17.02 (5th Ed) (certain bracketed material omitted).

In this case, the trial court found that Mr. Miller was entitled to instructions on self-defense. CP 52-58. The court should have instructed jurors that Mr. Miller could defend himself if he reasonably feared he was "about to be injured." RCW 9A.16.020(3); WPIC 17.02.

Instead of instructing jurors on the correct standard, the trial court improperly instructed jurors that Mr. Miller could not use force in self-defense unless he feared "great personal injury." CP 52. The court's "act

on appearances" instruction also required a danger of "great personal injury." CP 55. The court defined "great personal injury" to require proof that Mr. Miller reasonably believed he'd suffer an injury that "would produce severe pain and suffering." CP 56.

The "great personal injury" language applies in homicide cases: homicide is justifiable "[i]n the lawful defense of the slayer... when there is reasonable ground to apprehend on the part of the person slain... to do some *great personal injury* to the slayer." RCW 9A.16.050(1). This standard is also reflected in the homicide jury instructions, which provide that a killing is justifiable when "the slayer reasonably believed that the person slain intended to inflict death or *great personal injury*." 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 16.02 (5th Ed) (certain bracketed material omitted) (emphasis added). The note on use reflects that the instruction is to be used "in any homicide case" involving self- defense. Note on use, WPIC 16.02

Self-defense instructions violate due process if they magnify the harm a person must fear to justify the use of force. *Id.; see also State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 863, 215 P.3d 177 (2009) ("A jury instruction on self-defense that misstates the harm that the person must apprehend is erroneous"). Here, the court's instructions did just that, requiring fear of "great personal injury" instead of mere "injury." CP 52, 55, 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Similarly, the "act on appearances" instruction for homicide cases requires a reasonable fear of "great personal injury." 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 16.07 (5th Ed).

The trial court erroneously applied the homicide standard to Mr. Miller's case. CP 52, 55, 56. This magnified the harm he was required to apprehend in order to defend himself and relieved the State of its burden to prove the absence of self-defense. *Woods*, 138 Wn.App. at 198. The error requires reversal. *Id*.

B. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Woods*.

Review is appropriate "[i]f the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals." RAP 13.4(b)(2). Mr. Miller's case is controlled by *Woods*. Here, the Court of Appeals declined to follow *Woods*, believing it was wrongly decided. Opinion, p. 8. Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Woods*, the Supreme Court should accept review.

In *Woods*, the accused was charged with assault for stabbing another person. The trial court erroneously instructed jurors that the use of force in self-defense was justified if the defendant reasonably believed that he was "in actual danger of *great bodily harm*." *Woods*, 138 Wn.App. at 200 (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals reversed, noting that "the use of force is justified if the defendant reasonably believed he was *about to be injured*." *Id.*, at 201 (emphasis added).

As in *Woods*, the instructions here magnified the harm Mr. Miller was required to apprehend to use force in self-defense. *Id.* Instead of a reasonable belief that he was "about to be injured," the instructions required fear that he was in danger of "great personal injury." CP 52.

The error is compounded by the erroneous "act on appearances" instruction and the instruction defining "great personal injury." CP 55, 56. Under the trio of instructions given by the court over Mr. Miller's objection, Mr. Miller could only use force or act on appearances if he believed he was at risk of a great personal injury, producing severe pain and suffering. CP 52, 55, 56; RP (10/21/19) 774-777.

The court should have used an instruction based on WPIC 17.02, which correctly incorporates the "about to be injured" language. That instruction is to be used "for any charge other than homicide or attempted homicide." WPIC 17.02, Note on Use. Instead, the trial court instructed jurors based on the standard applicable in homicide cases. *See* RCW 9A.16.050(1); WPIC 16.02.

According to the Court of Appeals, trial judges should disregard the clear language of RCW 9A.16.020(3) (the "about to be injured" standard) and RCW 9A.16.050(1) (limiting the "great personal injury" standard to homicide cases). Opinion, p. 8. Instead, the Court of Appeals suggests that the great personal injury standard applies even in nonhomicide cases. This is inconsistent with the statutory scheme and the pattern instructions. It also conflicts with *Woods*.

The Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) to address this conflict. Mr. Miller's conviction must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial with proper instructions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Similarly, the court's "act on appearances" instruction should have been modeled on WPIC 17.04. That instruction refers to "injury" rather than "great personal injury." WPIC 17.04. It is to be used with WPIC 17.02. WPIC 17.04, Note on Use.

C. The Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to clarify its holding in *Walden*.

According to the Court of Appeals, the *Woods* court ignored the Supreme Court's opinion in *State v. Walden*, 131 Wn.2d 469, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997). Opinion, pp. 8-9. But the *Walden* court did not hold that a person must fear death or great personal injury when threatening to use deadly force in a non-homicide case.

The Walden court noted that

[t]he parties in this case have limited their arguments to the reasonable *use* of deadly force in self-defense, as opposed to a *threat to use* deadly force... Because the parties have not raised this issue in their briefs or at oral argument, we do not address it.

Walden, 131 Wn.2d at 474 n. 2 (emphasis in original). As the Walden court pointed out, "merely to threaten death or serious bodily harm, without any intention to carry out the threat, is not to use deadly force..."

Id. (quoting 1 Wayne R. LaFave & Austin W. Scott, Jr., Substantive Criminal Law § 5.7(a) at 651 (1986)).

Even if Mr. Miller threatened death or serious bodily harm, he testified that he had no "intention to carry out the threat." *Id.* Because the evidence must be taken in a light most favorable to him as the proponent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Court of Appeals also referenced *dicta* in *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). *Kyllo* did not involve a homicide, deadly force, or a threat to use deadly force. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Lafave goes on to say that "one may be justified in pointing a gun at his attacker when he would not be justified in pulling the trigger." LaFave, § 5.7(a) at 651. Although Mr. Miller did "pull[] the trigger" of his gun, he did not do so while intentionally pointing it at Aitchison and Frye. Instead, as noted, he planned to fire in the air, but pulled the trigger prematurely while attempting to raise his injured arm.

of the instruction, his testimony on this point controls. <sup>12</sup> *State v. Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d 448, 456, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000).

Furthermore, to the extent *Walden* suggests that the "great personal injury" standard applies in non-homicide cases, it appears to conflict with RCW 9A.16.020 and RCW 9A.16.050. The Supreme Court did not engage in statutory construction analysis or otherwise explain why the homicide standard applies in cases not involving homicide. *Id*.

The Supreme Court should accept review and clarify its holding in *Walden*. This case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

# II. THE TRIAL COURT INFRINGED MR. MILLER'S CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY RIGHT TO INSTRUCTIONS ON A LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE.

The trial court found that the crime of unlawful display of a weapon was both legally and factually a lesser-included offense of the charged crimes. Despite this, the court refused to instruct on the lesser offense, finding that Mr. Miller could not be prosecuted for unlawfully displaying his gun from his front porch. This deprived Mr. Miller of his constitutional and statutory right to the instructions.

A. An accused person has the unqualified right to have jurors instructed on a lesser included offense.

The legislature has granted accused persons the unqualified right to instructions on an applicable lesser-included offense. *State v. Parker*, 102

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  Furthermore, the jury refused to find that he intended to inflict great bodily harm when it acquitted him of first-degree assault. RP (10/23/19) 836-840.

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