FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/13/2021 11:16 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 99979-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL EARL MILLER,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Jerry T. Costello

No. 18-1-03704-4

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREW YI Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 44793 / OID # 91121 930 Tacoma Ave., Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2914

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

As Aitchison knocked on Miller's door, Miller burst through the door, "put his hand on [Aitchison's] throat" and yelled, "Get the F off my property." 2RP 268-69, 390-92, 422-23. The two men fought and fell to the ground. 2RP 515-16. Miller then threw a punch, Aitchison's foot slipped through the plywood porch, and they ended up on the ground with Miller still yelling profanities and swinging as Aitchison lay on top of Miller's back. 2RP 203-04, 225, 255-56, 270-71, 391-92, 424-25. During the altercation, Aitchison twice mentioned calling the police. 2RP 204, 220, 272, 392-93. Aitchison let Miller up and walked away. 2RP 516.

Miller went back into his home while shouting more expletives. 2RP 204-05, 271. He became "concerned," because although the men left, they did not immediately drive away from their spot on a public road. 2RP 722, 753-54. Although Miller recognized that he "probably" could have called

the police at that point, he was angry. 2RP 749-52. A few minutes later, Miller emerged with a long-barreled revolver which was purchased for protection against Alaskan bears, pointed the gun directly at Aitchison, and fired. 2RP 204-06, 331-323, 395, 740-41. He then turned and shot at Frye. 2RP 206, 211-12, 252, 273-77. The first bullet passed between Aitchison's legs and hit the driver's door of Aitchison's truck. 2RP 140-41, 206-07, 339, 398, 435, 488. Aitchison broke through a gate as he ran for his life. 2RP 395-99. Frye broke through a fence, taking cover behind a building. 2RP 213-14, 273-75 ("trying not to have holes blown through me"). Even after the men ran, Miller kept shooting because he was afraid "they were going to come back." 2RP 518, 758. Mr Aitchison was not in possession of a weapon during this incident. 2RP 233, 416.

After the police arrived and placed Miller under arrest, he made a statement that acknowledged that he had fired his gun toward Aitchison and Frye. 2RP 516-18. He volunteered that he fired several rounds "[b]ecause Vernon went one way, Steve went the other." 2RP 727. Miller also admitted to firing one or two more shots. 2RP 518.

B. Miller Was Tried and Convicted of the Second Degree Assaults of Aitchison and Frye

The State charged Miller with three counts of first degree assault, each with a firearm sentencing enhancement. CP 1-2. At trial, Miller asked for a self-defense instruction. 2RP 774, 777-78. The defense requested the court include language of "actual danger of injury" in Instruction 26. 2RP 774, 777-78. The judge appears to have made those modifications. 2RP 784. Miller did not object to the modified instructions, which stated:

A person is entitled to act on appearances in defending himself, if that person believes in good faith and on reasonable grounds that he is in actual danger of great personal injury, although it afterwards might develop that the person was mistaken as to the extent of the danger.

Actual danger is not necessary.

2RP 785, CP 55.

The defense also proposed instructing the jury on the offense of Unlawful Display of a Weapon. CP 23-26; 2RP 773. Defense counsel acknowledged that a person could not commit the offense in his own abode, but argued that Miller's front porch was not part of the abode. 2RP 773-74. The trial court denied the request, holding that the porch was part of the abode under *State v. Haley*, 35 Wn. App. 96, 665 P.2d 1375 (1983). 2RP 775-76.

Following deliberations, the jury convicted Miller of the lesser included offenses of second degree assaults against Mr. Aitchison and Mr. Frye. CP 65-73, 78. The Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Washington Courts Have Consistently Held That Deadly Use Of Force May Be Used Only If The Defendant Fears "Great Personal Injury"

It is well settled that deadly force may only be used in self-defense if the defendant reasonably believes he or she is threatened with death or "great personal injury." *E.g., State v. Walden*, 131 Wn.2d 469, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997). Both the trial court and Court of Appeals² relied on this longstanding principle in reaching their decisions. In addition, other Washington courts have long relied on this principle. As this rule is clear and unequivocal, no clarification is necessary from this Court. In addition, the "great personal injury" standard comports with sound policy considerations: as a society, it makes little sense to condone the use of deadly force in response to a perceived, minor threat. In addition, basing the self-defense standard on the crime charged—rather than the force used—would have the perverse result of incentivizing the State to increase the severity of the charge to change the self-defense standard. Because this Court has spoken

² Miller had no right to any self-defense instruction.

Persons may use the degree of force necessary to protect themselves that a reasonably prudent person would use under the conditions appearing to them at the time. *Walden*, 131 Wn.2d at 474; *State v. Hill*, 76 Wn.2d 557, 566, 458 P.2d 171, 176 (1969); *State v. Bailey*, 22 Wn. App. 646, 650, 591 P.2d 1212, 1214 (1979). Miller did not act as a reasonably prudent person would because he was not in imminent threat of any injury. It was completely unnecessary to shoot at persons on a public road from the safety of his home, and to continue shooting as they ran away. As a matter of law, his actions were an unjustifiable use of deadly force.

on this issue, the appellate courts have consistently applied the rule, and policy considerations show that this Court adopted a sensible rule, there is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

This Court has repeatedly held that "[d] eadly force may only be used in self-defense if the defendant reasonably believes he or she is threatened with death or 'great personal injury'" *Walden*, 131 Wn.2d at 474, (citing RCW 9A.16.050(1)). Twelve years later, the "great personal injury" standard was expressly reaffirmed in *State v. Kyllo* 166 Wn.2d 856, 866-67, 215 P.3d 177 (2009), which held that the term "great personal injury" describes "the type of harm that, if reasonably apprehended by the defendant, would justify use of deadly force in self-defense." The Court of Appeals properly applied this long-standing principle in concluding that Miller used deadly force when he shot a firearm at Aitchison and Frye. *State v. Miller*, No. 54288-9-II, 2021 WL 2444946, at *1 (Wash. Ct. App. Jun. 15, 2021) (unpublished). Therefore, the "great personal injury" standard was appropriate in Miller's case under *Walden* and *Kyllo. Walden*, 131 Wn.2d at 474; *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 866-67.

Miller incorrectly claims that his case is comparable to *State v*. *Woods*, 138 Wn. App. 191, 156 P.3d 309 (2007), and that *Woods* conflicts with this Court's opinion in *Walden*, 131 Wn.2d 469. Pet. 10. He is mistaken. Critically, *Woods* did not involve the use of deadly force. Woods

-7-

was charged and convicted of third degree assault after he stabbed the victim in the shoulder, causing the victim to need three stitches. *Woods*, 138 Wn. App. at 194-96. After being stabbed, the victim yelled and chased Woods with a hammer. *Id.* at 195-96. The *Woods* Court found that the facts of this particular case did not establish the use of deadly force:

The term "great bodily harm" places too high of a standard for one who tries to defend himself against a danger less than great bodily harm but that still threatens injury. Where the defendant raises a defense of self-defense for use of nondeadly force, WPIC 17.04 is not an accurate statement of the law because it impermissibly restricts the jury from considering whether the defendant reasonably believed the battery at issue would result in mere injury.

Id. at 201 (quoting *State v. L.B.*, 132 Wn. App. 948, 953, 135 P.3d 508 (2006) (emphasis added). Because *Woods* did not involve the use of deadly force, it is distinguishable from *Walden*. *See Woods*, 138 Wn. App. at 201; *see also Walden*, 131 Wn.2d at 474. *Woods* held only that where the defendant raised self-defense for the use of *non-deadly force*, the "great personal injury" standard was not appropriate. *Woods*, 134 Wn. App. at 201.

Washington courts have long relied on *Walden* to properly conclude that when a defendant uses deadly force, "great personal injury" is the proper standard. For example, Division One of the Court of Appeals held in *State v. Barquet*, No. 5775-3-I, 2008 WL 434879, at *2 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 19, 2008) (unpublished) that "[t]he law does not allow the use of deadly force any time a defendant perceives her or she is about to be injured. Instead, the law permits a defendant to use the amount of force necessary to protect oneself or another. Thus, the heightened standard of 'great personal injury' is proper because [the defendants], like *Walden*, were charged with assault in the first degree with a deadly weapon." (internal citations omitted).

Division One considered a nearly identical argument to Miller's in State v. Twigg, No. 56561-3-I, 2007 WL 512531, at *1 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 20, 2007) (unpublished). In Twigg, a jury convicted the defendant of first degree assault while armed with a deadly weapon, rejecting his selfdefense claim. Twigg challenged the trial court's decision to instruct the jury on the use of force using the "imminent danger of death or great personal injury" standard approved in Walden. Twigg, 2007 WL 512531, at *1. Twigg contended that the "great personal injury" standard is limited to homicide and attempted homicide cases. Id. Division One rejected his argument, holding that "[i]n State v. Walden, the court expressly approved using an imminent danger of death or great personal injury standard in defining the use of force in an assault case where, as here, the victim is unarmed." Id. (internal citations omitted). Notably, Barquet and Twigg were both issued prior to this Court expressly reaffirming the Walden rule in its Kyllo decision in 2009.

Miller's argument that the "deadly force" standard should only be used if the victim actually dies is inconsistent with *Walden*. Pet. 9. In *Walden*, this Court concluded that "[d]eadly force may only be used in selfdefense if the defendant reasonably believes he or she is threatened with death or 'great personal injuiry'" *Walden*, 131 Wn.2d at 474 (citing RCW 9A.16.050(1)). *Walden* distinguished between the defendant's use of deadly force or non-deadly force. It did not turn on whether the victim died or survived.

In essence, Miller is requesting that this Court lower the self-defense standard applicable to use of deadly force. This would be contrary to public policy. Shooting at people creates a risk of death to the target as well as others in the vicinity. The risk created by the decision to use a gun in response to a minor provocation is not negated if the intended target survives. A contrary result would condone increased use of weapons and needlessly jeopardize public safety. In addition, Miller's argument that the "deadly force" standard should only be used in the context of homiciderelated charges would incentivize the State to bring a charge of attempted homicide to increase the self-defense standard.

These absurd results reinforce the wisdom of this Court's previous rulings in *Walden* and *Kyllo*. The law should not allow the use of deadly force any time a defendant perceives he or she is about to be injured. Rather, under *Walden*, the law permits a defendant to use only a proportionate amount of force necessary to protect oneself. *See Walden*, 131 Wn.2d at 474.

In other words, there are compelling public policy reasons for the Court's application of the "great personal injury" standard. When an individual turns a gun against another, the self-defense standard properly balances the right to use that weapon for self-protection against the extreme risk to the victim's life. Miller seeks to overturn this longstanding policy balance, and instead base the self-defense standard on whether the prosecutor opts to charge the shooting as an assault or an attempted homicide. This Court should decline to revisit this well-settled rule.

B. There is No Basis for Review Under RAP 13.4(b) Where the Court of Appeals Properly Distinguished *Smith* From *Haley* and the Two Opinions Are Not in Conflict

Contrary to Miller's argument, there is no case law suggesting that the five foot landing at the door to his trailer is a structure separate from his abode. As a result, there is no conflict for this Court to review.

In situations analogous to Miller's front porch, the courts have recognized that this portion of the home is not a separate abode. Miller argues that this Court should grant review to resolve an alleged disagreement between the Court of Appeals, asserting that different interpretations of the "place of abode" exception under RCW 9.41.270(3)(a) are in conflict with each other. Pet. 15. He is mistaken, as there is no conflict.

In *State v. Haley*, 35 Wn. App. 96, 665 P.2d 1375 (1983), Division Three of the Court of Appeals held that the deck attached to the defendant's home constituted an extension of the Haley's "abode." *Haley*, 5 Wn. App. at 96-98. The Court concluded, "[f]rom the description given of the deck and its surroundings, and in light of the rule that criminal statutes are to be construed strictly against the State and in favor of the accused ..., we hold the deck was an extension of the dwelling and therefore a part of the abode." *Id.* at 98.

In *State v. Smith*, 118 Wn. App. 480, 93 P.3d 877 (2003), Division One held that the defendant's backyard did not qualify as his "place of abode." *Smith*, 18 Wn. App., at 484-85. Notably, Smith's conduct occurred on land, and not on any structure attached to his residence. *Id*. The *Smith* Court distinguished the backyard from the deck addressed in *Haley* by explaining that the yard was "not an extension of Smith's residence." *Id*. at 484 n. 8. The Court further reasoned that because "yards typically abut neighboring properties," the behavior in the yard intentionally "traverse[d] the fence to communicate threats." *Id*.

Consistent with *Smith* and *Haley*, the appellate courts focused on the relationship to the home in determining the nature of a detached garage.

State v. Owens, 180 Wn. App 846, 849, 324 P.3d 757 (2014). In *Owens*, the defendant walked with a rifle from the back door of his house to a detached garage 20 to 30 feet away from the house. *Owens*, 180 Wn. App. at 849. The Court suggested that RCW 9.41.270(3)(a) could apply to a "structure attached to [defendant's] residence." *Id.* at 855. However, the Court concluded that under the facts of that case the defendant "was neither inside his residence nor on a structure attached to his residence." *Id.*

Here, the Court of Appeals properly distinguished the facts of *Smith* and *Haley*, and concluded that Miller's porch was attached to and part of his mobile home. *Miller*, 2021 WL 2444946, at *6-7. It adopted the reasoning in *Owens* that a structure attached to a residence can constitute a place of abode. *Id.* (citing *Owens*, 180 Wn. App. at 855). The Court of Appeals noted that "an attached porch is significantly different from the backyard in *Smith* or the area between a house and a detached garage in *Owens.*" *Miller*, 2021 WL 2444946, at *6. Under the specific facts of Miller's case, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that Miller's front porch was part of his "place of abode" and that RCW 9.41.270(3)(a) would prevent him from being prosecuted for the unlawful display of a weapon. *Id.* at 7.

Miller's front porch is even more a part of his home than Haley's broad deck with a swimming pool. It is a few square feet, with a short landing to search for one's keys between climbing the steps and entering the trailer. Exh. 11, 17; 2RP 392 (two and a half feet off the ground), 423 (five or six feet long, barely enough room for two people).

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with *Haley* and *Owens* and is not in conflict with *Smith*. There is no error. The trial court could not instruct the jury on Unlawful Display. As a matter of law, the crime could not be committed from the porch, which is a structure attached to the residence and properly construed as being part of Miller's abode. As *Haley* and *Smith* are not in conflict, this Court has no basis for accepting review.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny the petition for review.